

Pen Portraits for the 2011 Area Classification for Output Areas

Updated April 2015

Office for National Statistics

© Crown Copyright 2015

Official Statistics

ONS official statistics are produced to the high professional standards set out in the Code of Practice for Official Statistics.

About us

The Office for National Statistics

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) is the executive office of the UK Statistics Authority, a non-ministerial department which reports directly to Parliament. ONS is the UK government's single largest statistical producer. It compiles information about the UK's society and economy, and provides the evidence-base for policy and decision-making, the allocation of resources, and public accountability. The Director-General of ONS reports directly to the National Statistician who is the Authority's Chief Executive and the Head of the Government Statistical Service.

The Government Statistical Service

The Government Statistical Service (GSS) is a network of professional statisticians and their staff operating both within the Office for National Statistics and across more than 30 other government departments and agencies.

Contacts

This publication

For information about the content of this publication, contact Andy Bates

Tel: +44 (0)1329 44 4662 Email: better.info@ons.gsi.gov.uk

Other customer enquiries

ONS Customer Contact Centre

Tel: 0845 601 3034

International: +44 (0)845 601 3034

Minicom: 01633 815044 Email: info@statistics.gsi.gov.uk

Fax: 01633 652747

Post: Room 1.101, Government Buildings, Cardiff Road, Newport, South Wales NP10 8XG

www.ons.gov.uk

Media enquiries

Tel: 0845 604 1858

Email: press.office@ons.gsi.gov.uk

Copyright and reproduction

© Crown copyright 2015

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence.

To view this licence, go to:

www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/

or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU

email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to: info@statistics.gsi.gov.uk

This publication is available for download at: www.ons.gov.uk



Pen Portraits

Contents

Introduction	2
Names and descriptions	3
	3
Supergroup, Group and Subgroup descriptions	4
1 – Rural residents	4
2 – Cosmopolitans	6
3 – Ethnicity central	8
4 – Multicultural metropolitans	10
5 – Urbanites	12
6 – Suburbanites	14
7 – Constrained city dwellers	16
8 – Hard-pressed living	19



2011 Area Classification for Output Areas: Pen Portraits

Introduction

The following pen portraits describe the clusters that make up the 2011 Area Classification for Output Areas (2011 OAC), providing an informal view of the characteristics of each cluster. The 2011 OAC is a hierarchical classification, consisting of three tiers of supergroups, groups and subgroups for output areas (in England, Wales and Scotland) and small areas (in Northern Ireland).

The labels used for the supergroups, groups and subgroups and the descriptions of them are intended to be illustrative of the characteristics of areas in terms of their demographic structure, household composition, housing, socio-economic characteristics and employment patterns. In reality within each output area there will be a degree of variability with these characteristics.

These pen portraits complement the separately published radial plots which display the 60 2011 Census variables used to derive the 2011 OAC. Radial plots are presented for each of the supergroups, groups and subgroups that comprise the 2011 OAC, each data point on a radial plot displays the value for each of the standardised and transformed 2011 Census variables used.

Also published are maps, which allow for the identification of the geographical coverage of the output areas and small areas which comprise individual supergroups and groups.

Supergroups

There are eight supergroups forming the top tier of the hierarchy, denoted by a number (n) before their name in the descriptions below. These provide the most generic descriptions of the population in the UK. Descriptions for supergroups that discuss the average are referring to the 'average' characteristics for the UK. If not explicitly stated, comparisons (for example higher or lower) are made with the UK as a whole.

Groups

The middle tier is the group level, of which there are 26, each denoted by a number and letter (nx) in the descriptions. These provide a further description of an area's characteristics, in addition to, and comparison with the parent supergroup characteristics. As the 2011 OAC is a top-down classification, any group that starts with the same n as a supergroup will have been derived from that supergroup only. The supergroups produce two to four groups each. Descriptions for groups that refer to the average are referring to the 'average' of the parent supergroup, and not the national average. If not explicitly stated, comparisons (for example higher or lower) are made with the parent supergroup.

Subgroups

The bottom tier of the 2011 OAC hierarchy is the subgroups. There are 76 of these groups each denoted by a number, letter and number (nxn). These descriptions supplement both the parent supergroup and parent group characteristics, and comparisons are made with the parent group. Any subgroup starting with the same nx as a group means it will have been derived from that group only. The groups produce two to four subgroups each. Descriptions for subgroups that refer to the average are referring to the average of the parent group, and not the supergroup or national 'average'. If not explicitly stated, comparisons (for example higher or lower) are made with the parent group.



Names and descriptions

The names and descriptions for the 8 supergroups, 26 groups and 76 subgroups with the 2011 OAC are meant to provide greater insight than just examining the statistical outputs of cluster analysis alone. While they may not necessarily reflect the characteristics of the entire population, they are likely to represent the general characteristics for the majority of areas assigned to specific clusters. These names and descriptions are colour coded as above to reflect whether they refer to supergroups, groups or subgroups.

Glossary

With the pen portraits, there are a number of phrases and terms used with the descriptions which require a fuller description.

Old EU countries - refers to the 15 pre 2004 accession countries: Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Irish Republic, Italy, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and the UK.

New EU countries - refers to the 10 post 2004 accession countries: Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia.

Industries - based on aggregations of industries from the Standard Industrial Classification 2007 (SIC 2007):

- Agriculture, forestry and fishing
- Mining, guarrying or construction industries
- Manufacturing industry
- Energy, water or air conditioning supply industries
- Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motor cycles industries
- Transport or storage industries
- Accommodation or food service activities industries
- Information and communication or professional, scientific and technical activities industries
- Financial, insurance or real estate industries
- Administrative or support service activities industries
- Public administration or defence; compulsory social security industries

For ease of readability, the supergroup, group and subgroup descriptions frequently abbreviate the above descriptions, for example referring to financial related industries, rather than using the full description above.

Overcrowding – as measured by the percentage of households who have one fewer or less rooms than required.

Qualifications – refers to different past and present qualifications:

- Level 1, examples include GCSEs (grades D-G) and diplomas (City & Guilds, BTEC)
- Level 2, examples include GCSEs (grades A*-C) and O Levels (grades A-C)
- Level 3, examples include A Levels (grades A-E) and AS Levels
- Level 4 and above, examples include Higher National Certificates (HNCs) and degrees



Supergroup, Group and Subgroup descriptions

1 - Rural residents

The population of this supergroup live in rural areas that are far less densely populated compared with elsewhere in the country. They will tend to live in large detached properties which they own and work in the agriculture, forestry and fishing industries. The level of unemployment in these areas is below the national average. Each household is likely to have multiple motor vehicles, and these will be the preferred method of transport to their places of work. The population tends to be older, married and well educated. An above average proportion of the population in these areas provide unpaid care and an above average number of people live in communal establishments (most likely to be retirement homes). There is less ethnic integration in these areas and households tend to speak English or Welsh as their main language.

1a - Farming communities

This group has a lower population density than the supergroup, and people are less likely to live in communal establishments. There is a higher proportion of households living in detached properties when compared with the supergroup and much lower proportions living in terraced properties and flats. Households are less likely to live in social rented accommodation. There is a higher proportion of people working in the agriculture industry compared with the supergroup.

1a1 - Rural workers and families

The population of this subgroup has a slightly higher proportion of people aged 0 to 4 when compared with the group. Households are slightly more likely to live in detached properties, and less likely to live in other types of property. They are also slightly more likely to live in overcrowded conditions than the group and for household members to be unemployed.

1a2 - Established farming communities

Compared with the parent supergroup, households in this subgroup are more likely to live in a terraced or end-terraced house. People are slightly more likely to use public transport to get to work. Those in employment are more likely to work in financial related industries.

1a3 - Agricultural communities

This subgroup has a lower population density than the group. Compared with the group, a higher proportion of households live in terraced properties or flats, and privately rent their home. The proportion of people working in agricultural industries is higher than the parent group.

1a4 - Older farming communities

The age make up of this subgroup is lower than the group for younger ages, but higher for ages 65 and over, and residents tend to live in more densely populated areas. Households are more likely to live in flats, though less likely to live in privately or socially rented accommodation. The proportion of people working in agricultural industries is lower than for the parent group.

1b - Rural tenants

The age structure is very similar to the supergroup, though people are less likely to live in communal establishments. Compared with the parent supergroup, there is a higher proportion of households living in semi-detached, terraced properties and flats, with a higher proportion socially renting. People are less likely to work in the agriculture industry than for the parent supergroup.

1b1 - Rural life

This subgroup is slightly more densely populated than the parent group. Households are less likely to live in flats. There are slightly more people working in the manufacturing and energy industries.



1b2 - Rural white-collar workers

This subgroup is slightly less densely populated than the parent group. When compared with the parent group, a higher proportion of people work in the information and communication, and financial related industries, whilst unemployment is lower.

1b3 - Ageing rural flat tenants

When compared with the parent group there is a higher proportion of people who are aged 65 and over, and they live in slightly denser populated areas. A higher proportion of households live in flats and socially rent, whilst a lower proportion of people work in the information and communication, and financial industries.

1c - Ageing rural dwellers

The age structure of this group shows has a lower proportion of people aged under 65, and higher proportions aged 65 and over, particularly for the 90 and over age group. People are more likely to live in communal establishments or in detached properties.

1c1 – Rural employment and retirees

This subgroup has a lower proportion of people aged 90 or over compared with the parent group. It has a slightly higher proportion of people who were born in the EU and whose main language is not English or Welsh. The proportion of people working in agricultural industries is higher than the parent group, and a higher proportion of households live in private rented accommodation.

1c2 – Renting rural retirement

This subgroup has a higher proportion of people aged 90 and over compared with the parent group. There is a higher proportion of households who live in terraced properties, and households are more likely to rent socially. The proportion of people working in agricultural industries is lower than the parent group.

1c3 – Detached rural retirement

This subgroup has a higher proportion of people aged 90 and over compared with the main group, a slightly higher proportion of households who live in detached properties, and a lower proportion who rent socially.



2 - Cosmopolitans

The majority of the population in this supergroup live in densely populated urban areas. They are more likely to live in flats and communal establishments, and private renting is more prevalent than nationally. The group has a high ethnic integration, with an above average number of residents from EU accession countries coinciding with a below average proportion of persons stating their country of birth as the UK or Ireland. A result of this is that households are less likely to speak English or Welsh as their main language. The population of the group is characterised by young adults, with a higher proportion of single adults and households without children than nationally. There are also higher proportions of full-time students. Workers are more likely to be employed in the accommodation, information and communication, and financial related industries, and using public transport, or walking or cycling to get to work.

2a - Students around campus

Compared with the parent supergroup a higher proportion of people live in communal establishments. A lower proportion of people are married or divorced and a higher proportion are schoolchildren and full-time students. Households are more likely to live in terraced properties and to live in social rented accommodation compared with the national average. There is also a higher prevalence of workers in the accommodation or food service activities industries.

2a1 - Student communal living

This subgroup has a high proportion of people (largely students) living in communal establishments compared with the group. It also has a higher proportion of people who are of Chinese ethnicity. The proportion of people who are schoolchildren or full-time students is higher than the group.

2a2 - Student digs

When compared with the parent group, this subgroup has a much lower proportion of people living in communal establishments. There are lower proportions of people who are married or separated. The proportion of households with full-time students is higher than the parent group, and households are more likely to be living in terraced houses and rented accommodation.

2a3 - Students and professionals

The population in this subgroup contains higher proportions of children aged 0 to 14, and adults aged 25 and over than the parent group. The subgroup has a lower proportion of people living in communal establishments than the parent group, with higher proportions of people who are married or separated.

2b - Inner city students

The age profile of this group shows a high proportion of schoolchildren, full-time students, and people aged 25 to 44, though a lower proportion married or divorced. Households are more likely to live in flats, to live in private rented accommodation, and to have overcrowded conditions. A lower proportion of people provide unpaid care, and a higher proportion work in accommodation or food service activities industries.

2b1 - Students and commuters

The proportion of people who are white is slightly higher than for the parent group, however the representation of all other ethnic groups is lower. The proportion of people with level 1 or 2, or apprenticeship qualifications is higher when compared with the parent group. People are more likely to use private transport to travel to work.

2b2 - Multicultural student neighbourhoods

The population in this subgroup has a lower proportion of people aged 45 to 89 when compared with the parent group. Its ethnic makeup has a higher proportion of persons of mixed ethnicity.



2c - Comfortable cosmopolitan

The age profile of this group shows a higher proportion of people age 45 and over than the parent supergroup. A higher proportion of people are divorced. There is a lower representation for all non-White ethnic groups when compared with the supergroup and a lower proportion of people born in the old EU. There is a lower proportion of households with full-time students and a higher proportion who live in flats. A higher proportion of workers are employed in the mining and manufacturing industries, and travel to work using private transport.

2c1 - Migrant families

This subgroup has a higher proportion of people aged 0 to 14 when compared with the parent subgroup, with a higher proportion of residents of mixed ethnicity. Households are more likely to live in a detached, semi-detached or terraced property than the parent group. A higher proportion of workers are employed in manufacturing industries.

2c2 - Migrant commuters

The population in this subgroup has a higher proportion of people who are of Pakistani ethnicity when compared with the parent group, and households are more likely to live in socially rented accommodation. A lower proportion of households had two or more cars.

2c3 - Professional service cosmopolitans

This subgroup had a lower proportion of people whose country of birth is in the new EU, and a lower proportion whose main language is not English or Welsh. When compared with the parent group they are more likely to own their home, and less likely to live in overcrowded conditions. When compared with the other subgroups for the parent group, this subgroup has the lowest proportion of people who are unemployed.

2d - Aspiring and affluent

The proportion of people age 0 to 14 is higher than for the parent supergroup. A higher proportion of people are married. There is a higher proportion of people who are of mixed ethnicity. A lower proportion of households have full-time students. Compared with the supergroup a higher proportion of households live in semi-detached or terraced properties. People are more likely to work in the information and communication, and financial related industries, and use public transport to get to work.

2d1 – Urban cultural mix

When compared with the group a higher proportion of people are of Indian ethnicity. A lower proportion of people were born in the old EU whereas a higher proportion were born in the new EU. They are more likely to live in a detached or semi-detached property.

2d2 - Highly-qualified quaternary workers

The label 'quaternary' refers loosely to 'intellectual' activities. In comparison with the parent group there is a higher proportion of people aged 5 to 14, and a lower proportion of persons of Indian ethnicity. Households are more likely to live in terraced or end-terraced properties.

2d3 - EU white-collar workers

A key characteristic for this subgroup is the higher proportion of persons born in other EU countries, and most noticeably in other old EU countries, relative to the overall UK figure, and the parent group. When compared with the parent group, a higher proportion of the people in this subgroup are Arab or of 'other' ethnic group. Households are more likely to live in flats and to be living in overcrowded conditions. Households are less likely to have two or more cars and also less likely to use private transport to travel to work.



3 – Ethnicity central

The population of this group is predominately located in the denser central areas of London, with other inner urban areas across the UK having smaller concentrations. All non-white ethnic groups have a higher representation than the UK average especially people of mixed ethnicity or who are Black, with an above average number of residents born in other EU countries. Residents are more likely to be young adults with slightly higher rates of divorce or separation than the national average, with a lower proportion of households having no children or non-dependent children. Residents are more likely to live in flats and more likely to rent. A higher proportion of people use public transport to get to work, with lower car ownership, and higher unemployment. Those in employment are more likely to work in the accommodation, information and communication, financial, and administrative related industries.

3a - Ethnic family life

When compared with the parent supergroup, this group has a higher level of all non-White ethnic groups. There is a lower proportion of people born in the old EU but a higher proportion were born in the new EU. There is a higher proportion of people whose main language is not English or Welsh. Households are more likely to live in detached, semi-detached or terraced properties.

3a1 - Established renting families

This subgroup has a lower proportion of people who have Indian or Pakistani ethnicity when compared with the group. The population is less likely to have been born in the new EU, and more likely to have dependent children. Households are more likely to be in socially rented accommodation.

3a2 - Young families and students

In comparison with the parent group this subgroup has a higher proportion of people who are of Indian or Pakistani ethnicity. Country of birth for residents is more likely to have been in one of the new EU countries, and residents are more likely to have higher level qualifications. Households are more likely to be privately renting than the parent group and less likely to be social renting.

3b - Endeavouring Ethnic Mix

This group has a higher proportion of people who belong to the Bangladeshi ethnic group than the parent supergroup but a lower proportion of those in Pakistani and Indian ethnic groups. There is a higher proportion of people who were born in the old EU countries. Households are more likely to live in flats and to socially rent than for the supergroup. Overcrowding is also more prevalent, and public transport more commonly used to get to work.

3b1 – Striving service workers

The population of this subgroup has a lower proportion of people who have Bangladeshi ethnicity than the group but a higher proportion who have Black ethnicity. A lower proportion of households are likely to live in privately rented accommodation. Most of the other characteristics are similar to the parent group.

3b2 - Bangladeshi mixed employment

A lower proportion of people in this subgroup are of mixed or Black ethnic origin when compared with the group but a far higher proportion of people have Bangladeshi ethnicity. A higher proportion of people whose main language is not English or Welsh are present in the subgroup.

3b3 - Multi-ethnic professional service workers

When compared with the group there is a higher proportion of people who are of Indian ethnicity but a lower proportion of Bangladeshi ethnicity. There is a higher proportion of people born in other EU countries with households more likely to live in privately rented accommodation in comparison with the parent group.



3c - Ethnic dynamics

In this group non-White ethnic groups are not represented as highly as in the parent supergroup and there is a higher proportion of people born in the UK or Ireland. Households are more likely to live in a flat and to socially rent. There is a higher proportion of unemployed in the group but those in employment are more likely to work in the manufacturing industry, and to use private transport to travel to work.

3c1 - Constrained neighbourhoods

In comparison with the group, this subgroup has a higher proportion of people who have mixed ethnicity. Households are more likely to live in terraced properties. People in work are slightly more likely to work in manufacturing industries, and households more likely to own two or more cars.

3c2 - Constrained commuters

The population of this subgroup has a lower proportion of people aged 65 and over than the parent group. It also has a lower proportion of people with mixed ethnicity. Households in this subgroup are more likely to live in flats, and to use public transport for getting to work.

3d - Aspirational techies

With the exception of the Indian and mixed ethnic group, this group has a lower representation of all non-White ethnic groups than in the parent supergroup. There is a higher proportion of people born in the old EU but a lower proportion whose main language is not English or Welsh. Households are more likely to live in semi-detached or terraced properties, and to live in privately rented accommodation. Workers are more likely to be employed in the information and communication industries, and to travel to work using public transport.

3d1 - New EU tech workers

The population of this subgroup has a higher proportion of people who are of Indian or Pakistani ethnicity than the parent group, and a higher proportion born in the new EU countries. Households are more likely to live in detached properties than the group, and to live in privately rented accommodation. A higher proportion of people work in mining related industries, and use private transport for travelling to work.

3d2 - Established tech workers

The population of this subgroup is slightly more likely to have Black ethnicity and more likely to be born in the UK or Ireland, and to have non-dependent children. There is a higher proportion of households who live in terraced housing, and a higher proportion living in socially rented accommodation. Households are also less likely to live in overcrowded conditions.

3d3 - Old EU tech workers

The population of this subgroup is more likely to have Bangladeshi ethnicity, and to have been born in old EU countries. A higher proportion of households live in flats, and households are more likely to be living in socially rented accommodation.



4 - Multicultural metropolitans

The population of this supergroup is concentrated in larger urban conurbations in the transitional areas between urban centres and suburbia. They are likely to live in terraced housing that is rented – both private and social. The group has a high ethnic mix, but a below average number of UK and Irish born residents. A result of this is that households are less likely to speak English or Welsh as their main language. Residents are likely to be below retirement age. There is likely to be an above average number of families with children who attend school or college, or who are currently too young to do so. The rates of marriage and divorce are broadly comparable with the national average. The level of qualifications is just under the national average with the rates of unemployment being above the national average. Residents who are employed are more likely to work in the transport and administrative related industries. Public transport is the most likely method for individuals to get to and from work, since households are less likely to have multiple motor vehicles available to them.

4a - Rented family living

This group has a higher representation of White and mixed ethnicity residents than the supergroup and a lower proportion of people whose main language is not English or Welsh. Households are more likely to live in terraced properties or flats, and to socially rent their property.

4a1 - Social renting young families

This subgroup, when compared with the parent group, has a higher proportion of children aged 5 to 14, a higher proportion of people who have Pakistani ethnicity, and a higher proportion who were born in the UK or Ireland. Households are more likely to live in semi-detached properties, and to live in social rented accommodation. Unemployment is more prevalent when compared with the parent group.

4a2 - Private renting new arrivals

When compared with the group, this population of this subgroup has a lower proportion of people who have Black or of mixed ethnicity. Residents are more likely to have been born in other EU countries. Households are more likely to be living in private rented accommodation.

4a3 - Commuters with young families

The population of this subgroup has a lower proportion of people who are of Pakistani ethnicity, but a higher proportion of Black ethnicity when compared with the group. Households are more likely to live in flats and to live in overcrowded conditions. People are more likely to work in the information and communication, and financial related industries.

4b – Challenged Asian terraces

The population of this group has a higher proportion of non-White ethnic groups than the parent supergroup especially people of the Pakistani ethnic group, and a higher proportion of 0 to 14 year-olds. It is more likely that their main language is not English or Welsh. A higher proportion of households live in terraced properties, and overcrowding is more prevalent. When compared with the supergroup more people are likely to be unemployed, and those in employment to be working in the accommodation and food service industries.

4b1 - Asian terraces and flats

The population of this subgroup has a higher representation of people from Indian, Black and Chinese ethnic groups, and a higher proportion of residents born in the new EU countries. Households are more likely to live in flats.

4b2 - Pakistani communities

A key distinguishing feature of this subgroup is the high proportion of people with Pakistani ethnicity, though residents are also more likely to have been born in the UK or Ireland, though less



likely to speak English or Welsh as their main language. There is a slightly higher proportion of households who live in terraced housing, and also a higher proportion owning their property.

4c - Asian traits

The population of this group has a higher proportion of people who are of Chinese ethnicity and particularly of Indian ethnicity. Compared with the parent supergroup, households are more likely to live in detached and semi-detached properties, and to own their own home. A higher proportion of households have two or more cars, unemployment is lower, and workers are more likely to work in the Information and communication, and financial related industries.

4c1 – Achieving minorities

The population of this subgroup has a higher proportion of people who have Pakistani ethnicity, and lower proportions with Chinese and Black ethnicity than the parent group. A lower proportion of residents were born in other EU countries. Households are more likely to live in detached and semi-detached properties, and to own their own property. Households are also less likely to live in overcrowded conditions.

4c2 - Multicultural new arrivals

The population of this subgroup has a higher representation of all non-White ethnic groups than the parent group. A higher proportion of residents were born in new EU countries and a higher proportion without English or Welsh as their main language. Households are more likely to live in terraced properties or flats and to live in overcrowded conditions.

4c3 - Inner city ethnic mix

Compared with the parent group, there is a higher representation of persons of mixed ethnicity, but lower representation for the other non-White ethnic groups, and a lower proportion of people whose main language is not English or Welsh. When compared with the parent group, there is a lower proportion of households with non-dependent children, and households are more likely to live in flats.



5 - Urbanites

The population of this group are most likely to be located in urban areas in southern England and in less dense concentrations in large urban areas elsewhere in the UK. They are more likely to live in either flats or terraces, and to privately rent their home. The supergroup has an average ethnic mix, with an above average number of residents from other EU countries. A result of this is households are less likely to speak English or Welsh as their main language. Those in employment are more likely to be working in the information and communication, financial, public administration and education related sectors. Compared with the UK, unemployment is lower.

5a - Urban professionals and families

The population of this group shows a noticeably higher proportion of children aged 0 to 14 than the parent supergroup and a lower proportion aged 90 and over. There is also a higher proportion of people with mixed ethnicity. Households in this group are more likely to live in terraced properties and to live in privately rented accommodation. Unemployment is slightly higher than for the parent supergroup.

5a1 - White professionals

The population of this subgroup has a lower representation of all ethnic groups, other than White when compared with the parent group. Residents are less likely to have been born in other EU countries and more likely to have English or Welsh as their main language. Households are more likely to live in detached or semi-detached properties.

5a2 - Multi-ethnic professionals with families

The population of this subgroup has a higher representation of all non-White ethnic groups than the parent group, and in particular representation of persons with Indian or mixed ethnicity. Households are more likely to live in detached or semi-detached properties, and to live in socially rented accommodation. There is a higher proportion of people working in the information and communication, and financial related industries.

5a3 - Families in terraces and flats

When compared with the parent group, this subgroup has a higher proportion of households living in terraced properties or flats, with households more likely to rent their accommodation, either privately or socially. Households are more likely to live in overcrowded conditions than the parent group and less likely to have two or more cars.

5b - Ageing urban living

The population of this group shows a higher proportion of people aged 65 and over than the parent supergroup. Residents are more likely to live in communal establishments, detached properties and flats than the supergroup, with a higher proportion of households living in socially rented accommodation.

5b1 - Delayed retirement

The population of this group shows a lower proportion of people aged 90 and over than the parent group, and households are more likely to live in flats, though are less likely to socially rent. There is a higher proportion of people who use public transport to get to work and they are more likely to work in the information and communication, and financial related industries.

5b2 – Communal retirement

A distinguishing feature of this subgroup is the high proportion of people living in communal establishments. The population of this subgroup shows a higher proportion of people aged 90 and over than the parent group. There is also a higher proportion of households living in terraced properties than the parent group.



5b3 - Self-sufficient retirement

A lower proportion of people live in communal establishments than the parent group. Compared with the group a higher proportion of households live in terraced properties and households are more likely to live in socially rented accommodation.



6 - Suburbanites

The population of this supergroup is most likely to be located on the outskirts of urban areas. They are more likely to own their own home and to live in semi-detached or detached properties. The population tends to be a mixture of those above retirement age and middle-aged parents with school age children. The number of residents who are married or in civil-partnerships is above the national average. Individuals are likely to have higher-level qualifications than the national average, with the levels of unemployment in these areas being below the national average. All non-White ethnic groups have a lower representation when compared with the UK and the proportion of people born in the UK or Ireland is slightly higher. People are more likely to work in the information and communication, financial, public administration, and education sectors, and use private transport to get to work.

6a - Suburban achievers

When compared with the parent supergroup a higher proportion of households live in detached properties and flats, and are less likely to rent their accommodation or live in overcrowded conditions. People of Indian ethnicity are over-represented when compared with the supergroup. Higher proportions of people have higher qualifications, and are more likely to work in the information and communication, and financial related industries.

6a1 - Indian tech achievers

All non-White ethnic groups are well represented in this subgroup in comparison to the parent group, people of Indian ethnicity being particularly well represented. There is a higher proportion of people born in other EU countries, and whose main language is not English or Welsh. Households are more likely to live in semi-detached properties. Compared with the parent group there is a higher proportion of people working in the information and communication, and financial related industries, and workers using public transport.

6a2 - Comfortable suburbia

The population of this group has a higher proportion of people aged 0 to 44 but a lower proportion aged 65 and over than the parent group. Households are less likely to live in semi-detached properties or flats, but more likely to live in detached or terraced properties.

6a3 - Detached retirement living

This subgroup has a higher proportion of people aged 65 to 89 than the parent group. There is a lower representation of all non-White ethnic groups in the subgroup. Households are more likely to live in semi-detached properties.

6a4- Ageing in suburbia

The population of this subgroup has a higher proportion of people aged 65 and over than the parent group. A much higher proportion of households live in flats, and households are more likely to live in privately rented accommodation. Households are also more likely to live in overcrowded conditions.

6b - Semi-detached suburbia

People in this group are slightly more likely to be divorced or separated than those in the supergroup. Households are more likely to live in semi-detached and terraced properties, with a higher proportion of households renting their accommodation.

6b1 - Multi-ethnic suburbia

All the non-White ethnic groups are represented more highly in this subgroup in comparison with the parent group. There are also higher proportions of people born in the new EU countries and people whose main language is not English or Welsh. Households are more likely to live in semi-



detached properties and to live in overcrowded conditions. A higher proportion of workers use public transport to commute to work.

6b2 - White suburban communities

Ethnic group representation, including persons with White ethnicity, is very similar to the parent group. The population of this subgroup has a lower proportion of people aged 65 and over than the parent group. Households are more likely to live in detached or terraced properties, and to live in privately rented accommodation.

6b3 - Semi-detached ageing

This subgroup has a higher proportion of people aged 65 to 89 than the parent group. All non-White ethnic groups have a lower representation in this subgroup when compared with the parent group. A higher proportion of households live in semi-detached properties, and own their own property.

6b4 - Older workers and retirement

There is a higher proportion of residents aged 65 to 89 within this subgroup than the parent group, and households are more likely to live in detached properties or flats. A higher proportion of households socially rent their accommodation, and a higher proportion are likely to live in overcrowded conditions.



7 - Constrained city dwellers

This supergroup has a lower proportion of people aged 5 to 14 and a higher level aged 65 and over than nationally. It is more densely populated than the UK average. People are more likely to be single or divorced. There is a lower representation of all the non-White ethnic groups and of people who were born in other EU countries. There is a lower proportion of households with no children. Households are more likely to live in flats and to live in social rented accommodation, and there is a higher prevalence of overcrowding. There is a higher proportion of people whose day-to-day activities are limited, and lower qualification levels than nationally. There is a higher level of unemployment in the supergroup. There are no particular industries in which workers are most likely to be employed, but some industries such as information and communication, and the education sector are underrepresented.

7a - Challenged diversity

The population of this group have a higher level of people aged 0 to 14 in comparison with the supergroup. All non-White ethnic groups have a higher representation than nationally, especially people who have mixed ethnicity. A higher proportion of households live in terraced properties, and are more likely to live in private rented accommodation when compared with the supergroup. Car ownership is generally higher than the supergroup, and people are more likely to be employed in information and communication related industries.

7a1 - Transitional Eastern European neighbourhoods

All non-White ethnic groups have a lower representation in this subgroup when compared with the parent group. A higher proportion of people were born in the new EU countries and there is a higher proportion whose main language is not English or Welsh. Households are more likely to live in detached properties and a greater proportion live in privately rented accommodation when compared with the parent group. People are more likely to work in the agriculture and manufacturing related industries, and to use private transport to get to work.

7a2 - Hampered aspiration

The population of this subgroup has a lower representation of people of mixed ethnicity or of Black ethnicity when compared with the parent group. A higher proportion of households live in terraced houses and in privately rented accommodation when compared with the parent group. A higher proportion of people work in the information and communication, financial, and public administration related industries.

7a3 - Multi-ethnic hardship

The age make-up of this subgroup is higher in the 5 to 14 age group when compared with the parent group. Whilst there are higher proportions of people of mixed or Black ethnicity, all ethnic groups are well represented, though a lower proportion of people were born in other EU countries. Households were more likely to live in semi-detached properties and were more likely to live in socially rented accommodation. Workers were more likely to be employed in transport or storage industries.

7b - Constrained flat dwellers

This group is characterised by people living in flats, with a higher proportion living in socially rented accommodation than for the supergroup. Ethnic groups generally have a similar representation as for the supergroup, persons of mixed ethnicity are underrepresented. There is a lower proportion of households with two or more cars.

7b1 – Eastern European communities

The population of this group has a higher proportion of people aged 0 to 14 than the parent group and a lower proportion aged 65 and over. A higher proportion of people were born in the new EU countries. There is also a higher proportion of people whose main language is not English or



Welsh. Households are more likely to live in socially rented accommodation, with workers more likely to be employed in manufacturing industries.

7b2 - Deprived neighbourhoods

The age structure for this subgroup is very similar to the parent group, with a lower proportion of people born in the new EU countries, and whose main language is not English or Welsh. Households are less likely to own their property and more likely to socially rent. There is a higher proportion of unemployed people.

7b3 – Endeavouring flat dwellers

In this subgroup there is a lower proportion of people born in new EU countries. There is also a lower proportion of people whose main language is not English or Welsh. In comparison with the parent group households are more likely to have no children, and to own their accommodation, but they are also more likely to be living in privately rented accommodation. People are less likely to be unemployed and there is a higher proportion of people working in the information and communication, finance and public administration, and education related sectors.

7c - White communities

The population of this group are more likely to be white when compared with the parent supergroup, with a lower representation of all other ethnic groups, and a lower proportion of people born in other EU countries. There is a higher proportion of households with non-dependent children, with households more likely to be living in semi-detached and terraced properties, and owning their own accommodation.

7c1 - Challenged transitionaries

Households in this subgroup are more likely to live in terraced properties than those in the parent group. There is a lower proportion social renting and a higher proportion renting privately compared with the parent group. People are less likely to be unemployed and are more likely to work in the information and communication, and financial related industries.

7c2 - Constrained young families

The population of this subgroup shows a higher proportion of people aged 0 to 14 than the parent group and a lower proportion of families with no children. Households are more likely to live in terraced properties and to socially rent their accommodation. There is a higher proportion of people who are unemployed and those in employment are more likely to work in the accommodation or food service activities industries.

7c3 - Outer city hardship

The population of this subgroup has a higher proportion of people aged 65 and over when compared with the parent group. Households are more likely to live in detached and semi-detached properties, and private renting is slightly more prevalent than the parent group. There is a higher proportion of households with two or more cars and a lower proportion of people who use public transport to get to work.

7d - Ageing city dwellers

The population of this group shows a higher proportion of people aged 65 and over when compared with the parent supergroup, and residents are more likely to live in communal establishments and less likely to be single. There is a higher proportion of households living in detached properties and flats. A lower proportion of people are unemployed.

7d1 - Ageing communities and families

The age profile of this subgroup shows a higher proportion of people aged 0 to 14 and a lower proportion aged 90 and over. People are less likely to live in communal establishments than the parent group. There is a higher proportion of households living in detached and semi-detached



properties, and households owning their own property. Households are more likely to have two or more cars. There is a higher proportion of people working in the information and communication, and education related sectors.

7d2 - Retired independent city dwellers

When compared with the parent group there is a higher proportion of households living in flats, and in socially rented accommodation. There is a lower proportion of households with two or more cars, but higher unemployment amongst residents.

7d3 - Retired communal city dwellers

The population of this subgroup shows a lower proportion of people aged 0 to 14 than the parent group but a higher proportion aged 90 and over. A much higher proportion of people live in communal establishments. When compared with the parent group a higher proportion of households live in detached, semi-detached or terraced properties, privately rent their accommodation, and have two or more cars.

7d4 - Retired city hardship

The age profile of this subgroup shows a higher proportion of the population aged 65 and over, though residents are less likely to live in communal establishments or to be single. There is a lower proportion of households with no children and non-dependent children. Households are more likely to live in flats, and more likely to rent socially. People in this subgroup are less likely to have qualifications, and due to the age structure are less likely to work in any of the identified industry categories.



8 - Hard-pressed living

The population of this group is most likely to be found in urban surroundings, predominately in northern England and southern Wales. There is less non-White ethnic group representation than elsewhere in the UK, and a higher than average proportion of residents born in the UK and Ireland. Rates of divorce and separation are above the national average. Households are more likely to have non-dependent children and are more likely to live in semi-detached or terraced properties, and to socially rent. There is a smaller proportion of people with higher level qualifications, with rates of unemployment above the national average. Those in employment are more likely to be employed in the mining, manufacturing, energy, wholesale and retail, and transport related industries.

8a - Industrious communities

Age structure and ethnic group representation broadly reflects the parent supergroup. There is a higher proportion of households living in detached and semi-detached properties, with slightly higher property ownership than for the supergroup. Industrious communities have a broadly similar demographic to the supergroup in terms of age group, occupation and population density, however slightly less overcrowding exists in this group. Ownership of two or more cars or vans is also marginally higher.

8a1 - Industrious transitions

The subgroup is broadly similar to the parent group in terms of age groups and ethnic diversity. Compared with the parent group, social renting is less common while a higher proportion of residents live in detached properties. This subgroup exhibits slightly higher proportions of residents in the information and communication, and financial related industries, together with slightly higher levels of educational qualifications.

8a2 - Industrious hardship

Age structure and ethnicity for this subgroup are consistent with the parent group. This subgroup has a higher proportion of residents who live in semi-detached properties, and social renting is more common, with marginally higher overcrowding. There is a smaller proportion of people in the information and communication, and financial related industries, and slightly higher levels of unemployment

8b - Challenged terraced workers

A key difference with this group compared with the parent supergroup is the dominance of terraced housing over other types. Ownership of two or more cars and non-White ethnic group representation is also lower. The group has a similar age structure to the supergroup and similar employment characteristics.

8b1 - Deprived blue-collar terraces

Whilst for this subgroup, the age structure is broadly similar to the parent group, it is characterised by a higher degree of non-White ethnic group representation, and higher levels of households in private rented accommodation. There are also marginally higher levels of educational qualifications with employment in the information and communication, financial, and education sectors more prevalent than with the parent group.

8b2 - Hard pressed rented terraces

For this subgroup, age structure and representation of ethnic groups are broadly similar to the parent group. There is a higher proportion of households living in semi-detached properties, and a noticeably higher proportion living in socially rented accommodation. There is also a slightly higher use of public transport for commuting to work.



8c - Hard pressed ageing workers

Residents who live in this group have a broadly similar age structure to the supergroup, though a smaller proportion of young people and higher proportion of older people. There is less non-While ethnic group representation than with the parent supergroup. Employment characteristics for this group closely reflect those for the supergroup.

8c1 - Ageing industrious workers

This subgroup is characterised by a slightly older age profile, and a higher proportion of mixed ethnicity of the residents compared with the parent group. Households are more likely to live in detached properties, and to live in privately rented accommodation. Residents have higher educational qualifications, whilst workers are more likely to be employed in the information and communication, and financial related industries.

8c2 - Ageing rural industry workers

The age structure is very similar to the parent group, though there is lower non-White ethnic group representation. Households are slightly more likely to live detached or terraced housing, and to be living in private rented accommodation when compared with the parent group. This subgroup contains considerably higher proportions of workers in agriculture, forestry and fishing occupations than the parent group, with a higher proportion of people walking and/or cycling to work.

8c3 - Renting hard-pressed workers

This subgroup has smaller proportions of older residents, and ethnic group representation is reasonably similar to the parent group. A higher proportion of households live in semi-detached properties and flats compared with the parent group, and households are more likely to live in socially rented accommodation. Household overcrowding and unemployment is marginally higher than the parent group. Workers are more likely to work in transport or storage industries, and to use public transport to travel to work.

8d - Migration and churn

This group has a higher proportion of children aged 0 to 14 than the supergroup, with a higher representation of non-While ethnic groups. Households are more likely to live in terraced houses or flats, and to socially rent their property. Unemployment is noticeably higher than for the supergroup, and people are more likely to be employed in the tertiary industry (service) sector, and use public transport to get to work.

8d1 - Young hard-pressed families

The age structure for this subgroup largely reflects the parent group. There is a lower non-White ethnic group representation, particularly for people of mixed ethnicity. Households in socially rented accommodation are more prevalent than with the parent group, and unemployment is higher. Certain industries such as the information and communication related industries are underrepresented with this subgroup.

8d2 - Hard-pressed ethnic mix

This subgroup is generally characterised by higher levels of non-White ethnic group representation, particularly of persons of mixed and Black ethnicity, together with an older age structure than for the parent group. Households are more likely to live in flats, and more likely to own their own property. There are also a higher proportion of workers in the information and communication, and financial related industries, whilst unemployment is marginally lower than for the parent group.

8d3 – Hard-Pressed European Settlers

The key characteristic of this subgroup is the higher proportion of residents who were born in new EU countries compared with the parent group, and a younger age structure. Main language not



English or Welsh is also more prevalent. Households in this subgroup are more likely to live in privately rented accommodation when compared with the parent group. Unemployment is marginally lower than for the parent group, with those in employment more likely to travel to work by walking or cycling, and employed in agriculture and manufacturing related industries.